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In 1897 a "Historical Sketch of the American Sooiety of Oiru En· 
gineers" by the writer wu published by the Sooiety. Thi• wu iasued 
in book form only, and a limited number aold, the proceeds being 
turned over to tbe Building Funtl for the Fifty-118venth Street Houe. 
At the Wuhington Conveniion, in 1902 (the Fiftieth Anni:,erar, of 
the Societ;r), be bri� aketched the denlopment of � intenening 
years. These, ao far u known, form the oill:, attempt at a oonnected 
acc:ount of the activities of the Society. 

During the past quarter century man:, thinga have happened, and 
much has been' accomplished of which there ia no oonYCient and 
readily acceeeible reoord. It i1 true that much material, in a more 
or lea hagmentar:, • form, ma:, be found ecattered through the 250 
monthly numbers of Tran,action, and Procuding1 published dur­
ing that period, but, even if they ue all aooeeaible in bound form, JDOre 
effort and time are nece&88l'7 to get at the fact. than the buq ensmeer 
can afford. 

In addition to thia, the growth bu been ao rapid that only 8411 
(about 'Ti%) of the pN!8eDt memberabip of 8 644 were connected with 
the Society at the beginnii'ig of thia period. It. ehould be remembered 
aleo that the rate of increaee in membership baa � eo much greater 
during the latter part oi this period, that Is 137 (more than 66% ot the 
increue) have joined wi�hin th!l laet ten years. 

• P,-atecl at tbe meetlD1 or Decomber Glb, 11117. 
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With full recognition of the fact that atatiatical matter and ficun,t 
are more useful in a printed than in a epoken record, ii ia int.ended to 
place before you thia evening as brietly as poasible the thinp which 
appe&r to be moet interesting, and of which the membenhip in gen• 
era) baa little if any informaiion. 

EARLY Hl&T011¥. 

'!'he American Society of Civil Engineers was inaugurated at a 
meeting held in the office of th. Croton Aqueduct Department, Ro­
tunda Park, New York City, on Friday, November 6th, 1862. At this 
meeting 12 Engineers were preeent. Alfred W. 0raven, Chief Engineer 
of the Croton Aqueduct, presided. The finrt Constitution (adopted 
December let, 1859) decland the object of the Society to be: 

"The professional improvement of its members, the encouragement 
of aocial intercourse among men of practical science, the advancement 
of engineering in its several branches, and of architecture, and the ea· 
tabliahment of a oentral point of reference and union for it& membera." 

The circular iasued at that time elated: 
"Civil, geological, mining, and mechanical engineers, architect!, 

and other persons who, by profession, are interested i.n the advance­
ment of science, aha11 be eligible a.a members. 

"It i, anticipated that the union of the three branches of cinl and 
mochanical engiru)eri.ng and architecture will be att.ended by the hip­
piest results, not with a view to the fusion of the three profeasiona in 
one; but aa in our country, from neceasity, a member of one prof�ion 
ie liable at times to be called upon to practice to a greater or leaa extent 
in the others, and as the line between them cannot be drawn with pre­
cision, it behoove. eaeb. if poeeil)le. to be grounded in the pncoee of 
the others; and the bond of union established by memberwp in the 
same Society, aeeki� the same end, and by the same m418Ds, will, it i• 
hoped, do much to quiet the unworthy jealousies which have tended to 
diminish the uselulneee of dlstlnct aocieties formed het'etofore by the 
several profel8ions m their individual bendi.'' 

The first professional meeting waa held on Janu,1111th, 1853. Dur­
inir 18�3 and 18114, fourteen meetings, wit\) an average attendance of 
Jix. were held, all in the office of the Croton Aqueduct Department. 
There is no record of any meeting after that of March 2d, 18511, at which 
the question of the' aecuriDJ of quarten waa conaidered and the Societ, 
adjoumed, until October 2d, 1867, when a meeting wa, held at the offl� 
of C. W. Copeland, 171 Broadway, New York Oit,, at which the 
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llinutee of the Meetinir of March 2d, 1855, were· accepted, and � 
object of the meeting etated to be "to take • such eteP11 as might be 
neeeesary to reeueai,tat.e the Society.'' 

SoclETY lIEA.oquARTERS, 

The result of this was that the nret home of the Society wu in 
rooms in the Chamber of Commerce Building, 63 William Street, 
New York City, where the First Annual Meeting was held on Novem• 
ber 6th, 1867. 

In 1871 the quartere in William Street were enlarged by the rent­
ing of additional rooms, and on May let,. 1875, new quarters were 
eecured on the southeast corner of Broadway and Twenty-third Street. 

On May 1st, 1877, the'Society moved into a house, No. 104 East 
Twentieth Street, which it rented. 

In April, 1881, a dwelling house, No. 127 East Twenty-third Street, 
wae purchased, the nrat meeting being held there on May 4th. 1881, 
and it is of interest to note in passing that one of the Founder Soeie­
tiee-The American Institute of Electrical Engineere--eame into being 
at a meeting held in that house on l!ay 18th, 1884,. 

This ho\198 was DCCupied until 1896, when two lots, Noa. 218 and 
2W West Fifty-seventh Street, with a total frontage of 60 ft., wen 
acquired, and buildina operations started iii December, 1896, in charae 
of a Building Committee oonsieting of George .A. Ju.st, Obarl8' 
Sooyemith, Bernard R. Green, George lL Browne, William R. Hutton, 
Joseph M. Knap, T. 0. Clarke, and Ohaa. Wauen Hunt 

The new how,e was oompleted and formally openec\ on No'N!Dlber 
24th, 1897. 

Owing to the growth of the Society, an additional 25-ft. lot, im• 
mediately adjoining the Society House, was purchased in 1904, and a 
50% addition to the house was built. This addition was completed in 
the latter part of 1905, and was nrst used at the Annual Meeting of 
January 17th, 1906. The Building Committee in charge of this work 
consisted of Alfred Noble, S. L F. Deyo, Nelson P. LeW\8, ahd Ohaa. 
Warren Hunt. 

The Society property then consisted of a. plot of 75 ft. frontage on 
Fifty-eeventh Street, varyi'ng in depth from about 107 ft. on the ea� to 
about 117 ft. on the west. The House was a 4-etory and basement, !re­
proof structure, ihe two lower Aoore covering the entire plot, and the 
two upper fioon only the front portion. The first floor contained· a 
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&pacious foyer and three offices, one of which wu used for the olllo. 

of the Secretary. There was a large room in the rear called a Louug­

iJ:ig Room, its use being principally for informal and eocial meeting& 
The main stairway gave aooess to the second floor ·on which there were 
in the front a large Reading Room, and in the rear an AuditoriUJD 
with a seating capacity of 500. The third floor was devoted entirelJ 
to the office force, and the top floor to a double tier of book atacia 
with sufficient capacity for about 150 000 volumes, and with spao. 
for considerable enlargement. The building was a dignified and 
commodione one, and, having been specially designed for the use of tha 
Society, proved itself adequate in every way, and, with certain addi· 
tions which could have been made at any future time for the inoreue 
of apace available for office and stack-room purposes, undoubted!J 
would have been ample for the use of the Society for many years to 
come. The total amount expended by the Society for the Iota and 
building -was, in round numbers, '860 000. 

In February, 1903, Mr. Andrew Oamegie offered to give •1000 008 
to erect a suitable union building for the .American Society of OiYil 
Engineers, the American Society of llechanical Engineers, the Ameri• 
�-Institute of llining Engineers, the American Institute of Eleotriou 
h'ngineers, and the Engineers Olub. Thie offer was very carehlly 
considered by this Society, and submitted to a referendum vote of 
the enti� 0o?pOrate M:emberahip, the arguments for and againsi ifl 
acceptance being eet out in an impartial manner. The result was that 
the membership decided, by a vote of 1189 to 662, not to accept the offer. 

The other organizations mentioned accepted. The amount donated
by Mr: Carnegie was increased to . •1 500 000, the result being 

I tha
Engineering Societies Building, N"oa. 20-83 West 89th Street, 1md" the 
�ngineers CJ1ub, 82 West 40th Street. The fund was divided as folloW11: 
to the three Engineering Societies, $1 050 000, to the Engineers Club. 
'450000. 

In 1914 the entire property of the United Engineering Society coa­
eii&WllJ of a *uctu,:e of thirteen atories, built with the flll)da provided 
b7 )(r. Carnegie on, property purchased by the three Fo11J1der Societi� 
had been cleared of debt. 

There .was, hovever, a strong feeling among those prominently iden· 
tified wnh ibe activitie11 of the three Founder Societies that ibis builcl-



TWJINTY•FlVJ: TB.UIS OP SOOIZTT .l<7r1VITIIS 1685 

Ing oould not be oonaidered a mictq nl)l'eMllltative Pro'-ional 
H.eadquarten until it houeed alao the oldest of the National Societioa. 

After aeveral preliminary ditoUNion, of. the matter by indi.Tiduals, 
OJ1 lune 11th. 11115, an informal meetina' of members of all the Nauonal 
EngineeriJl6 Sooietiee intereated in the question of ()(H)pv&tion of the 
nrioua branches of the Profeeaion wu held, and, aa • Mtult of t.hit 
meeting, the matt.er wu taken up by the Board of  :Pireotion of this 
Societ.Y, and Cleme.na Heracliel, Robert Ridr!&J', and Chu. Wanen 
Hunt, were appointed a Committee to 0011ai�er the que11tion ol a pos­
eible amalgamation in &11 �eering Headq� Charles F. 
Loweth, Huuter McDonald, George F. Swain. and John A. Ocbnon 
were' eubeequep.tly. added to � Co�ittee, &11d the Board of :Pirec-, 
tion, 1¥1,der date of February let, 191.6, laid the whole matter befor, 
the Corporate MembeJ'llhip of the Societr for a .referendum vote. The 
letter-ballot on this question wu canvaeaed on June 15th, 1916, the 
result being 2 500 in favor of the acceptance of the offer of the three 
F�un\ler s�;eties to 390 a,ainet it. 

. Thit offer, bridy atated, wu as follows: 
That a three-story eddition be made w the Eacin..-ui, Soeietiee 

Bui\iling at a 0011t emmat.ed at •11211000, and not to ezoeed 8260 000-
That the AmeriC&ll Society of Oi'ril Enaineere should pay for thii addi1 
Ciao, if the ooet did not uoeed the latter fia,lN, 'but that if that coat 
ezceeded $2150 000 the additional upenae should be bome bj, the United 
Engmeering Socie�. That the Amencan S�iett of Oi-ril Engineers 
would then become an equal owner in the whole enlarged property on 
the .-me tel'JDI u each of the three oriainal • Foundq Societieii, and 
would occupy u much i!pllce u it micht need on wo of the additional 
floors. 

Immediately afterward the Board of Diniction accepted in due form 
the jiivitation of the Founder Societi .. in behalf of the Society, and 
Clellleilll Heracliel, J. V. Davies, and Chaa. Warren Hunt, were ap­
pointed • Committee with power to carry out the ac-ent. 

Thia agreement wu ratiiled at a meetina of the United Engineering 
Society on August 10th, 1916. Work waa befrun on the n-.ry pre­
liminary atructural work on AU8l)8t let, 11116, under the 1upernsion 
of a Building Committee conaiatiq 1>f one repreeentative uom each of 
the Founder Societies at folio'": H. H. Bamee, �r., E. Gybl,on 81)Wt". 
buey, Ohaa. F, Rand, and Ohaa. Warrcm Hunt. 
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Owing to the general conditions oI labor and material, the coat of 
the addition to the building, which it was thought in 1915 wu ampl; 
provided for, with all contingencies taken care of, in the estima� of 
$225 000, was found to be at least iso 000 in excess of the limitina 
figure, or $800 000. Thie additional coat has been borne equally by the 
four Founder Societies. 

The total ahare of this Society, therefore, has been •969 600, which, 
together with certain additional expenses in fitting up the new quartera, 
colli of new furniture, and moving, will bring the total expense of our 
change of headquartel'a to approximately $280 000. 

The addition, aa before atat.ed, conaiata of three stories. The four­
teenth floor will be uaed as a atack-room for -the United Engin� 
Library, headroom for a double tier of stacks having been provided. A 
report of the writer to the Board deacribes our new quarters, as followt: 

":I'he lay-out of the lloo·rs to be occupied by this Society wu made 
by the writer with a view to utiluing every available foot of epaoe and 
to secure good light. Thie was the more neceaear:, inasmuch as the 
floor area of these two lloore is much leas than that of the lower· floors. 

''Briefly, die Society will oocupy the entire 16th lloor, and about 
tw�thirde of the 16th or top tloor. In all there are eleven main � 
On the 15th ilOOl' there are: 

"(1) The oflice of the Secretary, entrance to which is at the �ht 
of the eleva� 

"(�) The �dini, Room, directly opposite the elevator, the en, 
trance to which will be the main entrance $0 the Society �me. Thi• 
room ie 51 by 26 ft. and looks out over Bryant Park to the nottb. It 
is panelled in oak, and when 'ueed by our members, in connection wilh 
the Library will, it is believed, J)l'8ctically take the place of the olcl 
Reading Room in Fifty-seventh StTeet. 

"(8) The Board �m. TJiis room, whicp is� by 24; ft., is on the 
eouth aide of the building, directly opposite the ,Reading Room, a .6-4 
hallway separating them. This room is panelled in mahogany, a:nii the 
fumiture for it; which has been specially deiligned, ia also of·mahogany, 
and consist. .of f ubl• and 80· cbairt. • The tables are deeignlld 10 that 
they can be plaoed together, making a table 94, by 6 ft., or Qt� be �­
ra� and - as units 6 by 6 ft.; and, when n�. !'8U be, made 
into tables 6 by 8 ft. to set .'811\n&t the w4ll and take up very little '°?m. 
In the partition, between these z:ooms and the hallway, two �-Ct. open· 
inga, oppoart.e deb other, with &llding doon, have been arranged, ID 
that, the two rooms can oo thrown together, praoticall,.- form'inK e111• 
large room averaging 67 by f7 ft. 



bOJXa&DfO Bocmn1111 BvlU>DIO 
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"(4) General Office. A large room covering the east side of the 
building, 59 by 37 ft. Here will be located the general office force. A 
99rvice stairway, which will practically be a private stairs for this 
Society, gives acce88 to the 16th floor, where, on the east side of the 
building, there &Te four small offices, one of which (5) is to be used as 
a Rest Room for women; (6) for the Bookkeeper; (7) Editorial D&­
partment; (8) Applicaijons Department. Three othar luge rooms are 
available for Committee Rooms, or whatever 11se may develop in the 
future. They are (9) 24 by 20 ft., (10) 22 by 94 ft., (11) 36 by 13 ft.­
these figures being llPPtoXimate. 

"A doorway in the hall separates that part of � 16th floor to be 
used by the Society from three roo1ll3 which are avmlable for renting 
by the United Engineering Society, and to which acoeas is obtained 
through the elevator and hallway without passing through the quarters 
of the Society.'' 

LIBRARY. 

Immediately after the foundation of the Society, on January 5th, 
1853, a circular was ordered to be forwarded to "All men in charge of 
public works, asking for printed re.ports, ID/IP9, plaJ?-9, etc., in oider to 
start an Engineering Library in co11nection with the Society.'' There 
is no record as to the response to this circular, but, naturally, very 
little in the way of a Library could be secured until some place was 
provided in which the books could be cared for, and it was n�t until 
headquarters were first established, in 1867, that the Library really bad 
a start. After that its growth was quite rapid, when one considers that 
practically no books were purchased, the accessions being entiMly the 
result of donations. Several large additions were received in the s,uc­
ceediog ;rears, notably, in 1872, one from William Young Arthur, 
M. Aro. Soc.--C. E., and in 1873 one from William J. McAlpine, Past­
President, Aro. Soc. 0. E.

The Annual Report of the B�rd of Direction for 1873 gave tbe total 
contfflts of the Library as 8 488. 

Iii 1878 a special committee was appointed, under the foDowing 

resoiution: 

•lwhereas, the foundation of a library and museum, which contains
within itself all accessible published matter relat� to the history, 
theory and practice of engineering, the construction and management 
of public improvements, and the methods and cost of manufacturing 
operations, with illuatrations by models and samples of the results 
thereby obtained, must be invaluable, not only to the profession, but 
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to all who are int.erested in the pursuit or the application of practical 
knowledge, 

''Resolved, that a Committee, consisting of the President and nine 
other members to be named by him, with power to Jill vacanciet, be 
appointed to devise a ,Jan whereby 1Uch a library and museum may be 
founded; tha funda obtained for ita col�tion, mana,ement, increue 
and maint.enance; a stitable place lleC1J!td, where it ud other� 
aiona of the Society may be preserved and its advantqes enjoyed by 
-beN and others connected therewith, irrespective of th"' looation;
* • *"

Thi.a Committee dicl DOI make a repon tmtil 18'l5. MIil it aeema
worth while to quote ita principal recommendations, which. it ia 111b­
mitted, are wonderfully comprehensive. and cover the groiad II thor­
oughly aa if they had been written to-day. 

"The library of the American Society of Civil Engineera ahould 
contain the literature of rational and applied ecience, con ctive art 
and technolotY; all that hu becm, or may from time to t' e be pul>­
liahed, relatio, to ilia hiator., awl prosecution of • • ; the maps 
and profiles of every canal and railroad, their complete l'Wporta, and 
those of muialcipal and state departments; descriptions of )rivate and 
misoollaneous works; 1tatietics af the material resources and develop, 
ment, the wealth, manufactures and commerce of countriee; standard 
works of reference in science an� art, and lack nothing pu'blished an,­
where, in our own or other tongue, that in a library may aid the student 
or accomplial\ed engineer eeeking professional knowledp. * * * 
• • • Yueh professional knowledge recorded in the seYeral technical
journals of t� day, is almost inaeceasible to the busy members of a pro­
fession which allows but little time or opportunity for ema•tive read­
ing. Complele treatises on theoretical or practical aubjecta, frequently
publiahed tild lull of -u.r valuable to engineen, are neither pur­
chaBed or read b7 them. These, u i88Ued, ahould form a part of the 
library, and its advantages be placed d the command of all connected
there'With, wherever they may happen to reside, 10 that at their requeet,
complete examinations on epecified topics can � made, pertinent �­
� ec,pied, and proper ,eferencee given.

"The plan here outli•ed involves the preparation of aonciae ab-
1tracta of new worb, reports, acientfflc and technical journala, pro­
ceeding■ of eocietiea, and other publication1, u received; the whole to 
be clll88ified and indexed, tliat a busy man may quickly leam, without 
the trouble and expense of looking over the vut amount of matter now 
published, to determine fol' himself, whether there has recently ap, 
peared in print anything referring to a particular subject. A aerial 
index of current engineering and technical literature as thus described. 
can be comprised within a few page, ieaued weekly or monthly, and 
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�uld largel.f facilitate- the dillllekninafa,n of professional knowledge 
'among men of practical J1Ciei;iee'. • ., . 

"A skilliul librarian, who knows what the library contains, and 
where it is to be found, can at the mere cost of the time spent, make 
exhaustiT/1 researchee on a topic, for membel'S, quicker and with greater 
thoroughn888 ihan tbey themselvee can do it. Any one who ha$ con­
eulted large libl'IU'i.e knows ihat, generally, more time is spent in leam­
_i.ng how and where ti) look, than in th!l work: at h8Dd.'' 

In 18811, a svo11g effort was Dl&de to iorm a library for the joint 1188 
of the Civil, llechanical, l[ining, and Electrical Societie1, and a com­
inittee was appointed b..,- this Societ;y to eoJLfer with similar oommi� 
from the other Sooietiee; b1tt, Jlffl')J' tmee :,ean later, the Chairman re­
porteQ .�at .no satiafaet.o17 P1'0lftllll had been made in the matter, and 
no further aetM>n waa taken. 

IA.t the beginning cd the twent:,•five ;rear period under oonsidera.tio11 
!lie Lihrary bad, all wld. about 111.000 .aoceiaiona, and five :,eara late,. 
w)ien ii WU -moved w tJioe Fift:,•aMenth Street BoUlle, it eo.ntained ap­
proximately �000, IUJ)C>nlf them being IIW17 old and .rare volumee. 
Up to October lat, 1916, when the Libru,- wu Till'D9d over- to the 
U11ited Engineering Soeiet:,, the av�e �rly growth waa 8-000, •and 
the toial J)UJX!ber of acceesion, had inoreeeed to ,more than 88 000. 
lCore than 67 000 of these were not duplicat.eq in the oombined libraries 
of t.h11 llinittg. J.leehanioal, and Electrilllll Societies, and dieee. were 
turned o-.er to.the United Engineerin; Society in Oc,tober, 1916. In 
adffltioi:t, � book•staeks whieh had been el'80f.ed in the Fift.',·88Tenth 
Street House, e.nt )UOTid� io-e addi�& to OU� libnry for many ,ears, 
� donaWd to the ,Unit.eG �mg SocieQ", ' 'l'hey have been 
taken down, and are now bebig eroot.ed, in the ruhr "Stack Room" on 
Uie 1jth ftoor of ·ow .new home. 

The NIID&inillg 22 000 volumes have been presented to the Cleveland 
Association of Members. The collection is to be apt intact, and rs now 
teroporaril7 in the euatody of the OlevelaJid Public Lil:>rary. 

In the Fifty•11eTenth Streei Houae provision had been made for 
a OODjtnodious, up-to-data Stack Boom, 'lllld; immediat.ely upon moving 
In, a thorough re-clas•iftoation and indemig of the Libra?y was under­
taken, The Library at that time wu i.n m exoeedillgly chaotic iltate. 
No IIJ'lltematic indez for it had ever been made, and it was a problem 
how it should be made effieieni and ffailable for the use of Engineers. 
The task fell upon the writ.er, and be made every effort to nnd out just 
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what bad been don• up to that date In the classi!cation and cauloguinc 
of an Engineering Library, by inquiry from available sources. A 
<lOmpo&ite picture of the repliea received would �ve read eomewbat 
like thia: "We \188 euch and euch a 11yatem, and we adviee 7011 
not to." Under thi, condition he was th,own entirely on hi, own i. 

IO\U'Cell, and the clueification which bu been ill u.e for 20 y.n (It ii 
still u.aed so far u our books, which have been transferred to the United 
Engineering Library, are concerned), waa worked out. 

In •uch a pioneer effon b1 one who, up to that time, had a ,., 
limited knowledge of Library worlr. it is not &lllJ)rialng that there -
IIWIJ" imperfectiODL On the odier ·hand, ii was p'llt together from tlie 
atandpoillt of an Engineer, and experienoa baa ahown that it bu t­
a moat ellicient tool. Thia claasification wu u.aed, not only to •rranra 
boob on the ebelvee, but aho to ananp carda ill the Caulogue. Kan, 
of th• � were VVJ Ia., ud were 1'0t tub-divided cloeel;J, •d 
therefoN the "Olua Oatalogae'' wu eupplemented .,. • "Subjeet Cata• 
logue" in whiob the cadl ftN arranged alphabedcally by 1111,jeet. 
At l•st one oud wu written for flff/1'1 book In the 01- Catalogue, 
and u m&Jl7 additional cards 1'ere placed in either the Clua er Sub­
ject Caulogue u were � to C0't81' ite cont.enta fun,,. :All boo• 
were very carefully &JWJNd, cuds beiq written for 8D3' eeod0111 or 
cbapt.n 'which would be of speeial lnte?tet, which neoeaaitated in to­
ca- u maJ17 u 40 or 60 carda for one book. In addition to the No 
Catalogues d81Clribed, there, - aleo an "Author Catalogue" in wlrkili 
at leaat one eard wa filed I.er ev-, book in the Liln.-y, 

In 1800 the 01-iied ClltalotM wu printed and i•ued In· a vo1-
to all mtmben. This book contained '100 � and oo\lered a1lowt 
32 000 titles. lta iaaue stimulated the growth of the Libl'&l'J to neh 111 
extent tllat two Jean later a eeoond volume of m pages was ieeued, 
br�ng.it lip to data 

During the ,-eara ill whieh thia cluaiScation wae In uee mucli es· 
perience WH gained, and toward the. l&ttu put of that period an im­
proved and extended �tion wu -.orked out by two DleDlbere of 
the Library Staff, :Misa EleaDOJ' H. Frick, and 'lli1a Eether Raymond, 
on their own initiative, and largely in their own time.• Though ti­

daaiicdion is hued on the general ideu of the writer, full credit for 
the work belongs to the Librarians mentioned. It ie believed that thi 

• Tile two ••••ll•Uou &N s\ftD la •�d- A aad ll,.
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publication of the,,e two cla•ifieatione will be of considerable use, not 
only to Technical Libraries, but to members of the Profession. Aa an 
instance of such uae, it may be stated that the Committee of Engi­
neering Council charged with tabulating the members of the Society 
anilable for special work in connection with the War, used this claesifi• 
cation in making up the nrioua headings under which the members 
of tbia Society should be indexed. 

bi 1896, the writer, in the "History" preriouely referred to, speaking 
of the Library, aaid: 

"While it is not possible now t.o bring its use within the reach of 
memben residing at a distance, it is hoped :and believed that after the 
new house is .completed arrangtiments can be made by which non,• 
resident members may be able to secure data on any special points at 
1111all expense.'' 

As aoon as possible after the cataloguing had been completed, he 
took up the matter, and in 1902 was authorized by the Board to make 
aearches in the Library, upon request, and t.o charge therefc;,r the actual 
cost to the Society of the work required. About 1 000 such searches and 
bibliographies have been gotten out, and there is abundant evidence of 
the appreciation of our non-resident membership. 

A number of years after this system was started, the Library of the 
United Engineering Society established its Service Bureau, which baa 
been very successful; and, as our Library now forms part of the con• 
eolidation, Olll' members wilt have the benefit of that service. 

Loo.lL AIIOCIATJON'II. 

The question of the formation of Loca11 Associations of :Members 
in the various centers of populatio� was conaldered in a general and 
informal way aevetal times prior to 1905. It was discussed at the 
Cleveland Convention in that year, followi.ng a report fro� the Sec­
retary stating that a circular note had been forwarded to at least three 
Yembers in each of the following cities: .Albany, Boston, Cleveland, 
Ohicago, Detroit, Kansas City, Mexico, New Orleane, Philadelphia, 
Pittsburgh, Bl Louie, 'St. Paul and Minneapolis, San Francleco, and 
Washington, setting forth the advantages of e\ioh Astociations, both 
locally and to 1he Society as a whole, recommending ihei:r formation, 
and enclosing a draft of a propoeed Conatitution suitable for adop­
tion. The Secretary reported that considerable interest had been 
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arouaed, and that two Local Aaeociation■ had bel,n formed, one at
.Kansas City, Mo., and one at San Franoieoo, Cal; that meetioga 

had been held at Wuhington, Cleveland. Pittsburgh, Boston, St.
Louis, and Philadelph ia, and that a report from the tJiree
Chicago Msnbel'II had aleo been received. The reports from Wash­
ington, Cleveland, and Pittsburgh. were non-committal. In Bo■ton
it was the unanimous opinion of tho110 eon1JUlted that it would be nr,
diilioult to uo'IJl!e sufficient enthusiasm; in St. Louie a meeting of 23
Membenl adopted a resolution to the effect that it ,vu not desirable
at that time to have euch an organization in that city'. In Philadelphia
a letter-ballot wee taken resulting in a vote of ti to 1' against the
proposition, and the Committee in Chicago was strongly against it.

The general idea of the organization of Local Association& of the
Society, suggested by the Board of Direction, wae approved by the
Convention .• 

The writer remembers well what a hard struggle it w� to overcome
the many 9bjectlons raised, tlie principal one being the fear that such 
Aseoci11tione would injur,e local societies and oluba alread

y 

eetabliabed;
but tlme hae accomplished what then seemed impossible, �d �e now
have Local Associations in each of the oJties named except Al11any,
Boston, Mexico, ];>ittaburgh, and Kansas Oity. In the last named the
finlt association was formed, but it was no� sucoessfuL In additio,
there are 18 othe!'ll1 a total of 21. It is �doubted¼- a fact that these
A880Ciationa add strength to the Society as a whole, and are of great
local benefit. Since the above was .nitten, the writer has been informed
unofficially of the formation of an A880ciation in Pittsburgh.

An important meeting of the presidents of all tb11 L9cal ��­
tions wa� held at the Society Jrouse on January 19th, 1916, at whicli 
many m

0

attera of vital interest to the .Society were diecusaed.

MBMBEB8B1P.
�ty-ive yeart agx> th!t total inemberahip of the Soojet,y wa,

1 609; 11 � ill, Pl'll68Dt ,m tin& it is 8 644. a net increase for that period
of 6 986, the averap yearly net increase having been 277. It Bhould
be noted that this increue bu been in spite of the fact that the reqlli�
J;11enta have been raiaed during the period. The writer'a opinion i1 th&$
U ill � due to thia faot.
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FINANCES. 
As nearly as can be determined, the cuh nlue of the property of 

the Society, at the beginning of the twenty-five year period under con· 
nderation, was '60 000. In a statement issued by the Board of Direc­
tion in May, 189ll, when the buildmg of the Fifty-seventh Street House 
was first contemplated, the anilable assets of the Society were given 
u follows:

Hou.e, 127 Eaat 23d Street (estimate) .. '60000 
Mortgage . . . . .. . • . . .. • . .. . . . . . .. . . . . . 16 000 

Securities iu we deposit, par value ........ , . 
Caah, awaiW14r permanent investment. .......• 

�000 

16 000 
HOO 

Amount available.. . . . • • . . • . . • . . . . . . . '64 lSOO 

At the present time a similar etatement would read about u follon: 

Society House, 220 Wellt 67th Street, 
COBt ....... .. , ...... • ••••••••••• '360 000 

Less llortgage.. . .. .. . .. . . .. . . .. . . . .. 160 000 $210 000 

New 89th Screet Quartere, cost to the 
Society .................... ...... .'.. .. . 267 lSOO 

Securities in eafe depoeit..... . . . . .  . . . . .. .. . . 10 000 

The assets of the Society on the bu� of thia et atement have in• 
creued dll'ring the past quarter century about "26 000. This, how• 
ever, is very conaervatiTe, inasmuch u in the aboTe figures the cost 
of the Fifty-eeventh Street properfJ it med, w� in the etatement 
of 1896 the nlue of the Twenty-third Street home was estimated, and 
largl))y in ucea of the price paid for it; in addition to thie, the value 
of the Society', on�fourth interest in the Thirty-ninth Stniet pro.{>Crty 
it, at least $260 000 more t� the coat iiTen. It would be more near),y 
correct, therefore, to ea1 that the increue of property aeaets during 
tbia period baa been •700 000. 



1598 TWBNH•Pl'VW YBA.BB OP 8001ETY AOTIVITIES 

llurnios. 

During the past twenty-five years about 500 regular meetinga of 
the Society have been held. Nearly all of these have been for the PIP' 
pose of presenting and discll88ine professional papers and topics, and 
there have been 20 or 80 eztra or special meetings, and about 60 meet, 
ings which are spoken of in the Constitution as for "social" plll'p08e6. 
There were also a number of special meetings of the J uniora of �e 
Society. 

Among the most notable events, the following might be mentioned: 
The formal opeDJing of the Fifty-seventh Street House on November 

24th, 1897, was held in the afternoon. The Preeident, Benjamin ll. 
Harrod, of New Orleans, La., presided. The ceremonies were opened 
with a dedicatory prayer by the Rt. Rev. Heney C. Potter, and 
addresses were made by Oen. W. P. Craighill, Paet-President, Am. Soc. 
C. E., J. G. Schurman, LL.D., President of Cornell University, and the
Hon. Joseph H. Choate .

. On September 16th, 1904, a reception was gi?en to the members 
of The Institution of Oivil Engineers of Great Britain, who were viait­
ing this country by invitation of the Society. 

On No-yember 80th, 1910, at the home of the Sociecy, the John 
Fritz Medal was awarded to the late Alfred Noble, Paet-President, 
Am. Soc. C. E. 

On Jt1ne 3d, 1912, the Society tendered a reception 10 the Twelfth 
International Navigation Congress, and on September 11th of the same 
year to the members of the Sixth • Congress of the International .A.eao­
eiation for .'.[eeting Materials. 

Fro�11908 to 1910 all the meetings of the John Fritz Medal Board 
of Award were held in the Sooiety Bouse, and on ma,;i:, oeeaeio,ns m,eet· 
ings of other societi� and asaoeie,tions we:te he!� there by �ial per­
mission of the Board, of Direeti�n.,

• AIIEl'll>lrfBMts 'M TBli CoMBTlTUTfoM.*
'A revised Constitution waa adop½d on lra�'h {th, 1891, the prin: 

cipal changes being the pr6rision for two new mcles of membership. 
The C!lasa of Asaooiate Member was create/I, 80 that 'it would be prac­
ticable to raise �be qualifications for the �ighe'st grade, and to take 

• All tb• amen4m...,to, wltll a brief otatemeot oi tllalr p�rt and tllo -.ote bJwblcll tbq wore adopted or Nlected, wHI be found In AppeDdlr Ct. ' ' ' 
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can adequa* of a eertaiil olaa of eDglllt!eNI not elisible for 1he 
gnde of lleuiber, as well u to provide at the proper time a method for 
adnncement to Corporate llemberahip of thoae in the old Junior grade 
who were deeervinr of such advancement. The requirements for the 
grade of Junior were lowered 80 u to bring them within the reach of 
all young men who ai the besmnina of iheir cueen willhed to be oon• 
neeied with thia Society. Provision waa alao made for an increue in 
tbe number of Vice-Preeideng and for the enlargement of the Board 
of Direction, 80 u to make it IXIOre truly rep?eNmtative. The respec, 
tive term, of office were lengthened, and it wu ,tipulated that mem· 
bera of the Board should noi be eligible for immedia� re-eleciion, thus 
eecur�g rotation in olllce. 

The Report of a Committee on Revision of the Constitution. under 
date of November 6th, 1890, aimed ·bf. W. P. ShiDD, llendee Cohen. 
.ti'. Collingwood, and S. Whiner,, etat. in part: 

"It was upon the queation of the dutiea; poeition and etanding of 
the Secretary that the a'ffftelt diveraity of views was found to siat. 
A large number of members have ezp� the opinion that the Sec­
retary of the Society, like the secretary of an ordinary business cor· 
poration, should be appointed by the Board of Direction, but thoee who 
so 1hlnk forget or igi1oro the fact that, unlilu, the ordiJlary bu1!nest 
COl'pOrlltion, the oilicee of Preeideat and Vice-PNlidmt in thia Society 
are of � honoruy nature. The bomea of tb- oftieere are moat fre-,, 
que11tbr in parts of the co�try reUIOte from the Soc:iet;ra p)ace of 
business, and it may often occur that they can perform but few of the 
executive duties. In fact the Society doee not contemplate that the 
men whom it honers ,nth web poeltion.i shall drop tlieir piof-lonal 
duti• 1o attend to Society work, and ii certaialy 4oes not proj>oN to 
Pl1 them for doinc eo. The eiiecutiff duu.e muat, however, be J>V­
fonnoo b)' 80� one, and at all tirqea, The Coinmiuee � thexefore; 
distinctly named the Secretary, under the l'iesident llld Board of 
Direotion, the �ecutive oilioer of the Society. 

''If we atop for a moment to eonsider the important dutiee to be 
perfoi'mlld ht such olllcer, often of a delicate and confidential ebar• 
aeter, it will be - that he should ha� a TOice in the deliberatiODa of' 
the l3oud; for he ie the eouroe of all information, and tio him nmat t,. 
referred the detailed inveeti�tion of. every question. 

"It i1 llece88af1, too, tbat the ollice should be filled by a petecm 
capable of repre&enting the SoeietJ, tavorably, and dedding properly in 
the matt.era constantly arimig hr the intervals betfteD the meetings 
of the Board; and this can·oaq be well done by a pro(eu!onal man, of 
bUllleM operi� and tnu>di»&'. S\Mh a maa (l&IU)Ot be eui)y 



1600 TWEN'.PY•P!V.B' 'Yl1A.'R8 OP SOOIHrY AOTIVITIES 

sedured for lllly sum which the Sooiet, can at >present afford td'payf• 
nor would such i. man be 'lrillinlt to sever hiineelf enti:ely from Ith,, 
field of prof�oru» engag�:µie�t.'' 1 , , 

Up to 18� the office of Sooreta� had been filled by a general vote 
of the members'hip, but 1n that year an amendment was carried 
placing the election of the &oretaey ia the hands of the :Doud of 
Direction, but otherwise not ehanging hie status. The vote on ihi• 
amendment wail 191 to 6. ' In· 189!S 11n amendment was carried wnich 
divided the territory occupied by the Society into 7 <hiograpbical I>it­
triets and provided for representation of each of these Distrieta on 
the Board of Direction. The 'Tote on this ballot was 273 to 12. 

The revised Constitution adopted in 1891 provided for -£he election 
of all members by a letter-ballot of all Corporate :Members, 7 negatin 
vot.es escluding. It also pl"Ovided that the Board, upon �ipt of eight 
requests for reconsideration of the ballot in the cailB of any rejected 
candidate, was empowered to order another ballot to be taken. On thia 
"Reconsideration" negative ballots to the number of 10% of the vota 
cast were necessary for exclusion. 

The small number of negative ballois necessary for exclusion on 
the first ballot caused troublt by the esclUBion of well-qualified appli· 
can&.; the reconaideration ballot alao proved llll&atiafactory, for the 
Nlll80D that the number of ballote neoeesary for exclusion was dllpendent 
on an unknown quantity. Un�er it, a candidate migllt be escluded 
with only 15 negative ballots, and another miffht be admi� with .0 
or ll)O?e negative ballota. In fact, 1uch cuea BB these actually occurred. 

In 1903, the number of neaative ballots required for aclueion on 
the first be.llot was increased from 7 to 20. Even this proved uneatie­
factc?ry, and in 1908 the donatitution wu amended b1 transferring the 
election of members of all grades from the membership at large to the 
Bqard of D�tion. -:J:he 'vote on this ame11dm�t was 892 to 3J7. : 

In lij16 in order to provide flJr a more general repN18811t&ti<m on� 
Board of Direction, the territory ocoupiea by the Society wu divid4,d 
into 18, instead of '1, Dietricta, i!ach to be represented on the 'Board �fI Direction, the ,vote on, tfie questio11 being 1-066 to 83. . 1. 

A number of amenqmen� to the._. p,o�titution have �n propoaed
and, rejected. Amobir the moet impor$ant 9f th* .l'V•• pne, 1u�mitwd 
in :M:arah, 1907, increasing certain of 1be. tdmisaion .requiremeu1e, pat­
tioularly for the grade of :Member. Thie wa'8 loet,by a 'tote of 429 to M7. 
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In 19114 an �endment wa, offered which W'ould baTe changed the 
9Ultus of the SecNtarj-1 of, the Sooiet, by excluding him from>•m­
bership -on 1the1 Board of Di'reet'ion. Thia �endment wiia lost 'b1 a· Tote
of t'84S to i828. ' ' • ., I ' .

' I 11 

ENGlNEIIIUNO COli'ORESSES'. 
l I. • • I 

II 

Three International Engineering Co� i:11 which the Society 
was active, be-te been held ill the United States. The tlnt was held in 
1893 in coruiootion 'with the World's Columll>ian Exposition at ChicAgo. 
This Society took charge of Division "A", CiviJ Engineering, the work 
of which ;w,; de110ribed at the joint lll88ting of all divis�ns, • .A.ugu� �th, 
1898, aa follows: 

"Six sessions have been hel<t, and the work accomplished can be beat 
sMwn by tile following statenieht: Sixty-three papers in all-were p� 
aented. Of taeee-fifty had been prittted ahd dietributed for diacusaiou. 
and covered about 1 200 pages of printed matter, with ttume?0\18 pluea 
and cuts, .. ;, l , ., . • 

"The eubjoots treated may be classified under the following heacu: 
�Common Reads; Raltways, Terminal Systems, Signaling, tcco­

motm!e, eto.; 'Olible ltailw-.,a / :Bridges, Substructure and SuperstruC,: 
ture; Oanals; Fouodation.a; 18nrvqs and Suneying lnstnn:Dental 
Metals-Their T,ea$m,m.t for Suhttructural -PurpQSe&; O�n El►. 
vators; Pavip,a> Brick; CllJ'bon-Ita Vee in Elootrical Engineeri�; 
El�t�ic Light Plant; Hoisting Machinery; Inland Transportation; 
Navigation Works; tmprovenient of Rivers,; Improvement of Haibon; 
The Plant of Co�roldl Ports; The Laying Out of Cities; Water 
\Vorks; Sewers and Seweragi.J; Tunnel•, and Tllo Testing of Buildink 
Material. . . ,1 • 

'fTwel�e eountriea a� repr�ted in the autli,o?llhip of tbpse papen, 
as fol!ow�: .. 1 . . . , 

0� fumis� ...• oo Canada ............... a· ..
M�ico ............... 6 Italy ......... , .. ,, .. 1 
Portugal . . . . . . . . . . . . . � Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 
England ........ ... :. 8 United States ......... lS 1 
Hollt1.t1d . ,; .......... : 9 ....., 

-Franee ........ , ..... J. 2 lf.akuig a total of ..... 63 
South· Amer,4la .. , .... , . ;l 

"The work of translation of papers presented in foreign languages 
hft8, been done in every instanee· by vol11nteere from the membeJ'ship 
of the Soeiet,: by pntlemen thorouirhly «>llTetw.tlt witli Gie aubjeot 
1111der 0011sid�tio11. ,, 
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"The interest manifested in the papers presented is evidenced b:, 

the feet that 318 engineers regiistered during the eeeeion -of thia Divi­
aion, and the average attendance at each �ion '11'"8 about J.26. 

"The diecuaaione have taken a wide range, and, on account of the 
limited time, have been entirely confined to those presented orally. 
Many interesting and valuable written diSQueeions were received, 
which it was entirely impoesible to present at the, seesions, but whic'b 
will be published in connection witli the· papen. 

''The number of valuable additions to the literature on the eul>­
jecte mentioned ia so great that it is impoesible in this summary to do 
them all justice, and it ie thought best not to attempt it. 

"It may, however, be a888rted that the results of the 8e88ione of 
this Division of the Congrees will be far-reaching and productive of 
great benefit to the profession of Civil Engineering all over the world." 

The �n4 International Engineering Congress was held in con­
nection with the Louiaiana Purchase E;spoeition at St. Loui1, Mo., in 
October, 1g()4. 

In 1903 this Society was invited by the Direct.ors of the Louisiana 
Purqhase E:r:po1ition to undertake the arrangements ror an Intema­
tioniu EngineeriJli Congreu. Our :Boar<l ot Di�on appoinied a 
Committee, and this Committee invited the co-operation of the other 
N'ational Engineering Sooietiea, but, for some- l'ea80n which was never 
explained, they did not entertain the propositlQn f�vorably. Inasmuch 
as the inauguration and conduet of the proJosoo, Congreas bad been 
placed upon this Society by the management of the Exposition, tM 
Board determined, on January ith. 1904, that the Society should undel­
take it alone, aeswning the entire cost. 

At that date nothlng, even c>f a preliminary nature, had been done, 
and the organization, the securing, editing, and publishing of papers 
and diecu88iona, ae well as arrangements for meetings, de,-olved entirel,y 
upon the miter and bis staff. 

The ti.rat paper was received on lf:arch 29th, 1904-. and between 
that date and October lat, 1904, 83 papers �ere edited, printed, and 
circulated in advance, mai:Q' di1K:u88ions being rec:eived. The work of 
translating many of these foreign papers was undertaken by volunteen 
from the membership of the Society. 

Th• Congr* was held from Ocrober 3d to 8th. 1904. Ita acti-ritie1 
were divided into eight eection.a, 28 meetinp were held, the average 
attendance at each being 60. In the discussion of' the 88 selected aub-
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ject.a, 97 formal papen, written by prominent q,ecialista by invitation, 
were presented. In addition, 78 communications from engineen un&ble 
to be preeent were read, and there were 272 oral discll88iona at the 
Sectional meetings. 

The proceedings were published subsequently in aix extra volumee of 
Tramactiom, every member of the Society receiving copies of these 
volumes free of ,charge. The total edition was 4 000, and, in addition, 
separate pamphlets covering each of the subjects were printed, a total 
of 43 675 separate pieeee being handled. 

From foreign aources 46 out of a total of 96 papen, and 91 out; of 
a t.otal of 302 discussions, were furnished. 

The attendance at the Congress was: from the United States 724: 

Canada, Cuba and Mexico 17; South America 10; Europe (13 

countries) 111; Asia 10; Australia 4; a•total of 876. 
The total cost was '38 500, of wlbich about '5 000 was received from 

subscription and sales of publications, the total net cost met by the 
Society being about '38 600. 

The third International Engineering CongNl68 in which the Society 

11uticipated was held in connection with the Panama-Pacific Ei:posi• 
tion, in San Francieoo, Cal., September 20th-26th, 1916. 

The plan of management of this Congress and the method of fiua.nc­
ing it, both of which were suggested by the writer, were as follows: 

The original financial plan was that the cost sbould be underwritten 
a, follows: 

(1) By a general subscription :from engineers re-

siding in ihe Pacific Coast i-egion .... , , . . $10 000 
(2) By the five National Societies, in the follow• 

ing proportion:
American Society of Civil Engineen.,. . . . . '9 000 
American Institute of Electrical Engineers.. 9 000 
American Society of Mechanical Engineen .. 
American Institute of Mining Engineen ... . 

Society of Naval Architects and Marine En• 
gineers . ....................... , ...... :

6000 
6000 

2000 $30000 

The estimated cost of the Congress was . ......... , . . '40 000 

A General Committee of llanagement was composed of the Preei• 
dent and Secretary of each of the four Founder Societies and of the 



160-1 TW.D."lrr�FIVB YUB8 OP SOOIETY AO'l'JVITJR8 

Society of Naval Arehiteota and Marine Engineen, with four acldi• 
tional memben from each Soeiety reeident in San Franci100. 

Th• ten o� of the Sooietiee mentioned formed a Committee OD 
Participation, through which invitations to take part were nansmit1ed 
to other Engineering organi.r.ationa both at home and abroad. Thia 
Committee aleo arranged for providing the funds neceeaary to Cffl7 
on the work. 

The membere of the Committee resident in San Francieoo formed 
a Committee of Management to can:, out the work in detail on the 
ground, W. F. Dnrand being Chairman and W. A. Cattell, Secretar,• 
Treasurer. 

Thia Committee took charge of the receipt, editing, printing, and 
distribution of the papen and diacuaaiollll, which were finall:, iaued in 
13 volumes. 

The total oost of the Co� wu approzimately •77 000. Of thia 
omouut: 

Paci6o Coast Engineers contributed ................. ,10 413.00 
.American Society of Civil Enaineera oontributed. . . . • . '1 '140.00

American Institute of Kining Engineers contributed .. 
American Society of M6chanlcal Engineera contributed. 

American T.natitute of Electrical Engineers contributed. 

Society of Naval Architocta and Marino Engineers 

4300.00 
4300.00 

t800.00 

contributed-. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . 1 720.00 

Total. ..... . , . . .. . . . . . .. . . . . . . .. . . . . .. .. . .. . . '32 773.00 

The remainder of the total ezpenae waa received from membership 
r-, aale of additional volumes, etc., etc. 

The Annual Convention of thia Society wu held in Ban Franciaoo 
during the week be.fore the Oongreee, and similar meeting& of the other 
Founder Societiea were alao held, thus uauring a good attendance. 
Thia waa a somewhat memorable oooaaion, inasmuch aa a special tr,.u­
continental train for the accommodation of the members of all theae 
organizationa, and othel' membera of the Congress, was arranged for 
t.y the Joint Committee on Entertainment and Transportation of which 
the writer was Secretar)'.

, The Oongre,a eomi1ted of openinc and oloeing eeaeiona, and 61
technical meetings, • The total attendance waa approximatel,Y 800, and
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there were about 60 oBioial delegate.. Owing to the etate of war exist­
ing in Europe, the foreign participation, wu much more limited than 
bad been ezpected when the Congrem was originally undertaken. 

The product of this Congress was not distributed gratis to any of 

the members of the Societiee participating, as was the case in 1904. 

• PUBLICATIONS. 

The first paper printed by the Socief;y waa an Addreaa delivered by 

President Jamee P. Kirkwood directly after the reoreaniiatiou of the 

Society in 1867. 
The number of Tranaactiou for Noirember, 18'18, waa the first is• 

&ued. The fint 67 papers, which were printed separately, make up 
Volume 1 and part of Volume 2. Volume 8 begins with the number 
of TranB1Jctions for May, 1874, and Volume 4 with that of April, 18711. 
Between that date and 1886 the number of pages published was only 

sufficient to fill one volume per annum, but, beginning with 1887, and 

continuing until 1892, two were ieeued 1ffl'ly, the total number of 
volumes up to that date being 28. In 1898 two m;tra volumes of Trans• 
actions were issued containing the product of the Civil Engineering 
Section of the International Engineering Congress. 

Up to the end of 1695 the Proceedings and Transactions were is­

sued together in monthly numbers, and, in order to preserve them for 
future reference, they had to be separated and bound in individual 
volumes. 

The difficulty with this method was that a paper intended to be sub­

mitted to the Society was not published until it bad been read at a 
meeting, and the discussion upon it, which was limited to the few who 
attended the meeting or who had received advance copies, had been 
edited, printed, and collated. Under these conditions the membership 
of the Society at large ,never saw or heard of any paper until the dis­

cussion of it was complete, which frequently was six months, and in 

eome cases as long as eighteen months,. after the paper had been re­
ceived. The result of this was that the monthly numbers of Tranaac­
tiom lncked current interest, and when :reoeived by members frequently 
remained in their wrappers until eent to the binder when the entire 
yearly volume had been received. 
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The writer well rememben that one of the first pieoee of work u­
eigned to him u Aaaiatant Secrota17, in March, 18112, wa1 the gettmg 

read,. for publication of the number of Tronaactiom for September of 

the preceding 7ear. 
In 1892·95 the iasue, in addition to the regular T1'4naactiona, of a 

Bulletin in leaflet form, calling attention to current eventa and ginn, 

abstrnctl of the papen in advance of the dJlte at which they were to be 
presented, was tried. The great difficulty with thia was the preparation 

of proper abstractl. The experience of the writer leads him to the 

belief that a technical abstract, in order to be really good, muat be pre­

pared by one who is expert in the particular subject treated, and that, 
even in this case, he must study the paper carefully and write the ab-

1tr1ct in his own words. Any attempt to produce an abstract of a paper 
by quoting here and there a paragraph ia not producfrre of satisfactory 

rm,lta. 
In January, 1896, the publication of our preeent monthly Proceed• 

u.g, waa begun, the technical matter contained in these being 1ubee­
quently collated and publiabed in volumes of T1'4naactiona. 

Thie method was new in Society publications, ind bu since been 

adopted by othere. By it the member ia interested in the receipt of hie 

monthly Number, because it containa: (1) brief accountl of Society 
business, including abstracts of minutes of Society Meetings both in 
New York and in the headquarters of Local Aaeociations, list of addi­
tions to the membership, announcementl of future meetings, and other 

items of general interost; (2) not only the papers to be presented, but 
alM the discussions upon them, which are publiahed aerially until each 

subject is exhausted. 

It is a matter of pride that, during the 22 years that this publication 
has been issued, it has never failed to be mailed to the membership on 

the fourth Wednesday of the month, although at times the issues hne 

contained as much matter as an ordinary volume, in one case 650 pages. 
In lfarch, 1899, the writer was authorized by the Board to publi�h 

in Proceeding, a list of current- engineering articles of interest. Thia 

waa started in a modest way, and was evidently found useful by the 
membership, becauee a ""1.Ul!llt eoon came that it be printed on one side 

of the page only, in order that members might cut out itelDI 

which apecially interested them, and uee them in their own in· 
deii:ee. Thia list, which has been published continuously in each 
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month� number of the Prace�inga from that date, la macle up froDl an 
tumination of abo\lt 116 periodicals, The clauilication � 'ftJ'J' simple, 

as the list ia intended to be of c\lrrent interest only, and to enable an 
engineer to glance over each month the publications relating to hi1 par• 
ticular line of work, and to eelect therefrom such articles aa he may read 
either in aome coavenient library or by optaiuina them from the 
J111bliaher. 

In order to ahow briefly ·the quantity of material written, edited, 
and published, the total number of pagea issued in the Society publica· 
lions for the twenty-five years from 1867 to 1892, was 17 747 (year� 
average, 710), and for the twenty-five years from that time to date bu 
been 96 800 (yearly average, 3 872), making the total pages 114647. 
The cost of the printing, binding, and postage (nearly all the postage 
being chargeable to publications) for tne latter perio4 has been about 
$724 000 (yearly average, '28 960). 

The actual handling, preparation for mailing, and mailing, of all 
these publications baa been done by the Society force during that period. 

In 1911 the writer pNl8EIDted a Report to the Board of Direct.ion, 
and- aubeeQuently to the Busin- lfee\ing of the Annual Convention 
of that year, •uaestin« th8' there would be many advantaps if a 
change were made in the method of gettiq out our publicationa. The 
report stated that he had investigated thie p01mibilit., for aome time and 
teel)mmcndod U.d i, be tried. Brioiy, the idea waa to continue th• 
publication of Proc"ding, u heretofore, but to publish onq one 
volume of TranNetio111 ))el' ann\lm, aucb Yolume to oontain as much 
matter aa the four that were iMued at that time. This ws, io be 
accomplished b7 the \188 of thin ''India", or, u it is eommoilly called, 
"Bible", paper. Up to 1908 two volumes of TNfl&OCtiona bad 
bee. i1111ued yearly, but, beginniDg with 1909, four volumes were 
issued per annum. (In 1910 five volumee were ieeued.) Tbeee volu� 
CQntained between 660 and 600 pegea each. The difflrt benelite were 
fully i!tated in t.hi, Repert. • 

The recommendation wu approved and the 6J"fl of these thia-paper 
,olumea wu iasued in 11112. 

It ma:, be 19et down as axiomatic in Sociev work that no matter 
what may be done, it will not pleaee tb. enti� mdmbel'llhip, and thia 
aue was no uception. So DWlf orhiciame °"re �Ted. witli.,,in· 

• Proce;d,,.,,. Am. Soc: c .... Vol. xrxvu. ►· llt. 
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q•iries u to ,rby the Soclflt1 had adopted the u• of ''tiaue" paper in 
itit publioationlJ, etc., etc., that in April, 1914, a ci�lal' wu illlJed 
uking two 4\leationa: 

(a) "Shall the use of thin paper be continued in the lDOJ:\thl,
Proceedingaf 

(b) "Shall the 111e of thin paper be continued in the one yearly
volume of Tranaactiona, or ehall the same number of pagea be i..u.d ill 
TraflfOCHOM on thick PtlMlf, in four volumee per annum" I , t 

The i:esult of thla wap that. in a very large vote of about 8 000, 90% 
of those voting was in favor of the use of thin paper in the monthly 
Pn,cuding1, and 95% wu in fBTor of ita U88 in Tran,actionl. 
• AA wa, f9�n, the points jhat appealed to the memberahip wei:e

the great aaving to individuals in abelf room, in the cost of binding,
and in economy in time by the use of one index inatead of folll'.

ANNUAL CONVENTIONS. 

An Annual Oo'llvutio1:1. baa l,een held each year duting the lut 
twent:,•iive yeara, uoept in 1917, when the Convention ,rhich wu 10 
hBTe bee held in llinneapolia and St. Paul wu abandoned on aeeount 
of the war. Twenty-one aeparate looalitiea have been visited. Two Con· 
fflltiona'were held in Ohicago, two in Niagara Falla, and two in San 
Franoi100. All of them haft been exoeediag)y enjoyable, ha"9 brought 
the memb-. from various aectiona into oloeer oontaot, and •" 
been, of material benefit to indlridual1 and to the Society. 

le ia perhapa worthy of notice that durina' this period three of th­
meetinge have been held on the Pacific Cout, which up to 18M wu 
farther away from headq1Jarters than the Society bad ever held an 
olicial meeting, and that folll' Wei'$ held on foreign aoll, two in Cenada; 
one in England, and one i111 llexioo. 

It would extend thi11 review too far Men to touch upon the int.enlt• 
ing event. of theee meetiJJga, but perbapa it ia permiuible to call aUen• 
tion to the fact that the -irlp to London wae made on the in'ritation 
of the Institution of Civil Engineers, that our dleeti.np _. held 
in the hom& of that Inatitmion in Landon, and that the whole party 
had the honor and pleulffll of being received by Queen Victoria at 
Windaor Castle. It migl1rt, perhaPIJ, alao be stated that the llaioln 
Convention 11'81 held by u,.Yiw.tion of Pretident Diu. Yembere who 
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are interested will find quit& full detalfa Qf th- tripe in the 
�edmge, O 

A epecial part,, wu made •P in lfan:h, 11111, to visit the Panama 
Cabal. Thia was a more irt lw 11noffiolal party. Two of ibe United 
Fruit Company's steamen were chartered for the ocicas�. one ailing 
from New YoPk >and the other from New Orleans, meeting at the 
Jelbmua, and the patty atmerallt bepllllf together 011 � return. All 
the �ta were made by the writer, who, unfortunate?;r, was 
unable to iro, due to' the pree,u.re of other duties, but he knowe from 
what he heard from those who were fortunate enough to make it, that 
the trip 'wu a speciali,! enjoy�ble one. " 

l • 

, I l 

Snow, Ooinunus. 

Reference should also he made to the splendid work of Special 
Committees appointed to investigate and report upon EnJineering 
problems, twelve of which have made Final Reports durinf the period 
under 0011sidetAtloi1. The �ulti elf tbeit 'ltoi-lc �AV6 been ol inestimable 
value, bu't all thar ill poeaible, 'lrlthM tile llinita of this Wpew; is to 
enumerate t,he .eubjecta upon -,vhlch auch 1eporta hue been receited. 

, lj'inal Repqrta have beep publiahttd on the following &\lbj�: 
lmpuriti• ia Publio Water Suppq; ·standard Rail SeotieD&-Tiro 

Commi«- repo� on ibis, one 111 1893 and one ln 1110-Unifonn 
Yethods for 'telltlng Materlab Used ht Metallic Structuree, and 'Require­
�ta for 1'heee Materiala to Furt&er Improve the Grade of Such 
Structure1J; Standard Time; ReirulaWII' Practice of Engineering; 
Statue of the. M�tric System in the United Statee; tl'nlform Testa of 
Cement; Oond

i
tions of Employment of, and Compensation of, Civil 

E�neera; Ooncrete and Reinforced Concre�; Principles and ll'.etboda 
for the Va1uation of :Ra\ho•d �pert)' and Other Public Utilities; 
and Floods and Flood Prev�tion. 

At the preaent time aix Special CommitteN, all of which have 
presented one or mo� report.a of � ar, }n•eimgating 1.be follow-
in, �ubj�ta: 1 1 

Engineeri� Ed11cation; Steel Columu and ·siruta; Mater:iaJ.s foi: 
Road Co�cµ9n; � VtJue of So� for Folllld4tiona; �•­
tion of Water Righta; and StreaaM in n.ilro•cl T;-ack. 
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MEDALS AND PatuS. 

On October let, 1912, t.be Society eetabliabed two additional priMI, 
u follow,: The J. Jan. R. Croea Medal, named in honor of the firat
recipient of the Norman Medal; and the James Laurie Prue, named
in honor of the fiffl President of tlie Society. The first collliata of a
medal of the value of UO, and may be awarded annuaU, to such paper
as ma1 be judged worthy, and be nezt in order of merit to the paper
to which the Norman Medal ia awarded; the eecond co�siets of $40 in
cub, with an 8JlBI'aved certmoat.e sigood by the President and by the
Secretary of the Society. Thie prize also may be awarded annuall,y,
under the rules governing the award of the Thomae Fitch Rowland 
Prize, to such paper aa may be judged worthy and be next in order 
of merit to the paper to which the Thomae Fitch Rowland Prize ia
awarded.

In a Nl(lent i88ue of Bnginuring Newa-Record the following edi• 
torial appean: 

"AND T
H

EY ARE FIGHTING IN FRANCE" 

"The 'S"1,aidence of Muck: and Peat Boil, in Southern Louisiana 
and Florida' wu the title of a paper pl'8l'ellted two weekt aao at the 
meeting of the American Society of Civil Engineers. With the excep­
tion of three war addresses, equal]y peaceful topics hne occupied the 
meetinge aince lMt Ap:riL The fall program, ., far u annomiced, 
oontai,ns no· papers bearing on the tremendoua indu1trial and qi• 
nearing p,obleme which the wi�ng of the war demands that we eolva. 
Thia i1 an engineering war, yet the eociety seems not to recognize it, 
opportunity." 

It ia unfortunate that 1uch an improper, unfounded and earcutic 
editorial insinuation should be made about an organization wboee 
aima and objects are clearly un"'!lfish, in a commercial publication on 
which tbe Profession in a large mea1u.re depends for ita technical newa. 

The time for thia attack upon the loyalty of this Society-just after 
it baa beoome ODe of the Founder Socieii-ieaTea an impreuion of 
malicious intent. 

Of lat.e all of ua have heard much of the 1188 of previously unheard 
of methods of warfare, and the writer feela sure that every right-minded 
member of our 'Allie& of the Milling, Yechanical and Electrical Societi• 
will unite with the me:mben of thie Society in condenmation of thli 
misuse of editorial prerogative. 



.c 
,e 
n 
a. 

rd 
e,cl 

TWE�TY-l'IVB YJ:ARS OP SOCJBTY ACTI1'1TIJ:8 1611 

It is hoped that the following brief statement-written befo1"8 the 
appearance of this insult to the Board of Di1"8Ction and to the llem­
benhip of this Society-will be a sufficient answer. 

WAR AormTJES. 

As soon u war was declared, tbe Society placed its facilities at 
tlie disposal of the <roveroment, and, both ae an indiTidual organization 
and jointly with the other Founder Societies, bu done all it bu been 
uked or permitted t.o do. 

Th� value of the Engineer bu been recognized to a greeter extent 
than ever before, and in the wonderful progreae made in raising, 
training, transporting, and maintaining the new Army of tbe United 
States, as well aa in tbe investigation and solution of new problema, 
be has been a most important factor. 

A Joint Committee representing the National Societies, of which 
William Barclay Parsons, lf. Am. Soc. O. E,. was Chairman, wu 

active in securing the legillation which provided for the Engineer 
Reserve Corps, and Commi«- made up of memben of theee Societies 
1!ave been in�trumental in recruiting Engineer Regimenta in UlaJl)' 
parts of the country. 

In 1015, in the absence of Preaident Yan:, the writer was requested 
by a Sub-committee of the Naval Conaulting Board to co-operate with 
it and representatives of other National Societies, to formulate plans 
for industrial preparedn-. He reported to the Board of Direction, 
on January 17th, 1916, that a plan had been developed by the Sub-com• 
mittee, acting in conjunction with the nve National Societiee NIJ)re­
eenting the Civil, Mining, Mechanical, Electrical, and Chemical Engi• 
neers, for securing complete atatistica of the industrial strength of 
the country. Under tbis plan, in each State of the Union, one repre­
l'elltative, reoommended by each of theee Societies, WU appointed 89 
an Asaociate llember of the Naval Co!Ulllting Board, and the !'Ve 
Engineera thua appointed in each State constituted a Board to aecu111 
the neoeeeary information for the Government through the aid of die 
more than 80 000 members of these organization,. Aa is well known, 
thie great work was canied to a aucceuful ooneluaion. 

In theee and in many other ways the Society, and its Board of 
Direction, baa been active in the preeent emergency. 
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, Every mew� oi. the /3ociety must read with pride our "Roll of 
}Jonor'', the Jirljt i�11e 9£ wj:iich," incomplete as it undoubtedly is, oon• 
tains the names of �75 Engineer ollicers who are ,now serving in tbf'. 
Army and Navy. Since that list went to press, 148 have been added 
to it, and it is still incomplete. This means that more than Si% of 
the entire membership wears a uniform. The list, however, does not 
contain the names of hundreds of other members who are serving their 
country unobtrusively' but still no less unselfishly and elJectivel,y, on 
Advisory Board� or1 aimpl,y a& citizens, The writer knows of many 
caeea where at great' personal sacrifice such work baa been and is now 
being done. 

Only a few da:,a ago a suggestion was made somewhat timidly over 
the telephone by J. W. Du13. Gould (one of our Members who is devot­
ing his time to the service of the Govemment but who is one of those 
mentioned as not listed on our "Roll of Honor") that perhaps the 
Society might consider eome arrangement by which the United States 
Food Administration could secure the use of the House we ao 
recently vacated in order to carry on its work in New York Oity. 
and State. The· writer at once said that he believecl that the Societ, 
would be glad to olfer this House for the use of the Nation, for the 
purpose ilpecitied, free of charge. 

It was not po88ible to get the Board together; indeed, in these busy 
times, a meeting of the Executive Committee is difficult to eecure. By 
telephone, however, each available member of that Committee bas given 
hie unqualified and enthultiastio wPPott to the proposition: the arrange: 
ment has been made, and the U. S. Food Administration Board will 
begin work at our old home on Friday of this week. 

It ia perhaps unneceaaary to state that the bead of this most impor­
tant Board' is a 'Member of this Society-Herbert C. Hoover. 

SOCJKTY $TUI'. 

Any statement of the activities of the Society would be incomplete 
without special mention of the staff of the Secretary. It is not a large 
one. Before the transfer of the Library the total number (exclusive 
of lanitors and Oiliee Boys) was 22; since that time it has been some­
what n!duoed. T. J. llclli:nn, ll. Am, Soc. 0. E., Assistant SecretuJ, 
and Miss Eleanor R. Frick. Obie£ Office Ateietant, have served the 
Society for twenty yean, md fourteen others for periods nrying from 
--------------------�----,----,-

• Procu.U"II'• Am. Soc. C. B .. Vol. XLIII. p. 899 (No••mb,r. 19171. 
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18 to 3 :,ears, the average length of eervice of the entire force being 
more than 11 :,ean. The Society ow• much to the work of ita em· 
plo:,eea, and the Wl'iter wiehee to acknowledge publicly the faithlul, 
indostrioua, efllcient, and loyal 181'Vice which baa been rendered to the 
Soeiet:, at all times, aa well aa to expreet hia penonal obligation to each 
of them. 

FUNOTJONB or I\ NATIONAL Tll:ORNl()AL Soc!ll:TY. 

The writer believes that the primary funct1one of a National 
Technical Society might be etated about as follows: 

1-To advance engineering knowledge and practice.
2-To maintain the dignit;y and etanding of the organization, and

to preserve the high character and profeeeional qualincationa of ita 
memberehip. 

8-To keep in touch with, and to take proper action on, all matten
in which the relation of the Profeeaion to the public ie involved, and 
to render eervice to the Nation when occasion demande. 

4-To do whatever is posaible for its llemben individuall:,, and,
in general, to return to them an equivalent for the duee paid. 

The latter function necessarily takee \be form of providing oppor· 
luuity for professional dieclll8ion, both formal and informal, which, 
when, ae is the case in this Society, more than 80% of the memberehip 
is non-resident, must be through publications. 

The use of the Library should be bro'!ght ae far as possible within 
the reach of all, and all matters brought to the attention of the man­
agement by correspondence should be handled prompt!:, and eflioientl:,. 
including the keeping of special records of mem.ben eeeking profes­
sional engagements in order that the:, ma:, be placed at the disposal 
of inquirers for technical men in an:, epecialt:,.• 

Perhaps the most di111cult problem ia to au� in making each 
member feel that he is getting as much benefit aa every other member. 
The men who framed the Constitution of the Socie!,:r were wise enough 
to make a decided difference in the amount of dues to be paid by Reei• 
dent and Non-Resident l!emben, liut, although the Retident lumber 
pays 66% more than the Non-Resident, the latter is still inclined to 
feel that those who live near Headquarters derive disproportionate bene­
fits, in that the:, ma:, attend all meetinp. uee the Reading Room, con· 

• ThOU$h th• SoclelJ hu D� ad'fertlN4 U an 1111plo11Mnt l>utta,a, tllll pl&a ..... 
bMD In "" tor manJ rears. and hundr..S. ot mombtn ha•• - put In touch wllh 
PIOIH•IOUI oppo"1111IU.._ 
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,ult the Library, and otherwiae avail themselves of all local priYilteea. 
It ia not ponible, of ooune, to arra�e matten ao ihat the Non• 

Resident can eeeure all th- privilegea, but, during the put twenty• 
five :,ears, every effort hu been made to do away with thi■ feelina. 
How eucceaeful these efforts haTe been m1111t be left to the indit·iduel 
judgment of eaeh member, and it is hoped that what has been herein 
aet down will aid in the formation of that judgment. 

Co-OPERATION. 

Why did thits Society move ite Headquarters! It occupied, as has 
been shown, a dignified, satisfactory, oommodioue House, in an ucel­
lent location, which wae fully paid for; ite et.anding as an organization 
left noth� to be desired; ita membership wu increasing rapidly in all 
parts of the country. Wb:,, then, give up that which had been achie...ed 
by many yean of unremitting elfortt 

It seems to the writer that the answer is that it was the right thine 
to do. What if, as an organization, some sacrifices were made! What 
if certain details of the movement did not appeal to certain individuals! 
Wu it, or was it not, the thing to do, from the st.andpoiut of the Engi­

neering Profeesion t The beet answer to theee enquiries appean to be 
the vote of the membenhip, which was 2 500 in favor of, and onl,J 890 
against the change. 

Since the inception of this co-operative movement the writer bu 
been intimate!J, alJIOCiat.ed with it, and in close contact with the men 
ehoeen by the Founder Societiee to represent the other branches of our 
great Profeeaion, and can testify that the moat broad-minded, eameet, 
and einoore spirit of co-operation baa been manifest. 

In a report � the Board of Direction dated September 20th, 1915, 
the writer aaid : 

"The value of unity of action in all matters which affect the Pro­
fession generally must be conceded. 

"For many years the underaigned hu been endeavoring to bring 

about such a oondition; he has eerved on the John Friu lledal Board 
of Award eince its orpnization; and ae its Executive Offlcer for 8 or 
II years; and ia now its Chairman; has, with Mr. Ridgway, rep-ted 
our Society on a joint committee for the consideration of a number of 
aubject■ • • •. Be has actively repffllellted the Society on the 
Committee of Management of the International Engineering Oongrea, 
and baa been honored by the United Engineering Society by election 
to, and is now serving on, the Engineering Foundation Board. 
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"This experience hae convinced him that there should be a per• 
manent Board or Committee, composed of an equal number of repN!8ell· 
tatives of the four National Societies, to which the duty of representing 
the 80 000 professional men now enrolled in their membership should 
be given. There are man:y waya in whicl suoh a repre9entative body 
could help the etatus of the engineer, hi hia relations with clienis, em• 
ployere, and the public generalI,, which cannot, for obvious reasons, be 
taken up by any one of the Professional Societies individually, and it 
bas been his thought that an organidtion now exists (the United Engi• 
neering Society) which, if the repreeentathes of the Civil Engineer are 
added, and ite powers eomewhat expended. would be ideal for the pUJ'­
poee. He now believes that this matter should be the subject of dis• 
Clll8ion between the Oommi1i- of this Society and of the United Engi• 
neering Society and that the result of their deliberation should be made 
part of the question to be aubmi,tted to all the organization• concerned.'' 

Two years have elapsed since this was written, and without doubt 

the establishment of the "Engineering Council" wu intended to 

provide for this long felt want. Althou_gh, up to the pteeent time, 

the writer hu seen no retlllOn for changing the opinion expressed­
that the United Engineering Society is the organization best fitted to 

act on these most vital matter&-it is hoped and � that the new 

body will prove its value. 

The years covered by this review have been indeed boq ona, not 

without timee of eerioue difficulty and trial, but the bright epota after 

all have predominated, Aasooiation with the leaders of thought along 

Engineering and Scientific lin1!$ i� always broadening and helpful, and 

the writer looks back with pleasure only on the twenty-six years de­
voted to the eenice of the American Society of Civil Engineers, during 

twenty-three of which he has had the honor to be its Executive Oilioer 

and a member of ite Board of Direction. 




